

# **Open Access Repository**

www.ssoar.info

# Researching Educational Landscapes and Their Refigurational Spacing: Perspectives From Educational Science and Urban Planning

Coelen, Thomas; Klepp, Sarah; Million, Angela; Zinke, Christine

Veröffentlichungsversion / Published Version Zeitschriftenartikel / journal article

#### **Empfohlene Zitierung / Suggested Citation:**

Coelen, T., Klepp, S., Million, A., & Zinke, C. (2021). Researching Educational Landscapes and Their Refigurational Spacing: Perspectives From Educational Science and Urban Planning. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Sozial Research*, 22(3). https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-22.3.3805

#### Nutzungsbedingungen:

Dieser Text wird unter einer CC BY Lizenz (Namensnennung) zur Verfügung gestellt. Nähere Auskünfte zu den CC-Lizenzen finden Sie hier:

https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/deed.de

#### Terms of use:

This document is made available under a CC BY Licence (Attribution). For more Information see: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0







# Researching Educational Landscapes and Their Refigurational Spacing: Perspectives From Educational Science and Urban Planning

Thomas Coelen, Sarah Klepp, Angela Million & Christine Zinke

Key words: refiguration of spaces; crosscultural comparison; actornetwork theory (ANT); educational spaces; educational landscapes; leitbild; mixed methods; narrative maps; group discussion; documentary method

Abstract: In Germany, a much-cited concept in recent years has been that of *lokale Bildungslandschaften* [local educational landscapes]. In this article, we focus on socio-spatial educational landscapes in the arrangement of a campus, which links the actors of education and urban planning to a specific leitbild, meaning a guiding principle in physical form and programmatic action. Therefore, an educational space designated as a campus includes constitutive dimensions of educational practices and a spatial reorganization of educational conditions, which are still to be discovered and investigated. We center our analysis on the perspective of children and young people as the main target group of this leitbild, as well as the perspective of the professional actors. In the following article, we give a brief overview of the characteristics of socio-spatial educational landscapes. We focus on the appropriation and atmospheres of access points and transitions, as well as patterns of use and spatial perception. After analyzing the ongoing development processes of socio-spatial educational landscapes as a campus, we adopt an internationally comparative perspective to research them.

#### **Table of Contents**

- 1. Educational Spaces and Spatiality
- 2. Key Theoretical Concepts in Researching Educational Landscapes
  - 2.1 Local educational landscapes
  - 2.2 Leitmotifs and leitbilds
  - 2.3 Research on educational landscapes
- 3. Research Framework for Leitbilds and the Perception and Use of Educational Landscapes
  - 3.1 Study of campus leitbilds
  - 3.2 Study of appropriations and atmospheres of access points and transitions in educational landscapes
  - 3.3 Study of the campus as an educational space
- 4. Refiguration of Educational Landscapes and Application of Methods in Cross-Cultural Studies
  - 4.1 Challenges for conducting cross-cultural research on educational landscapes
  - <u>4.2</u> Reflection on the suitability of methods in the international context and within the framework of a cross-cultural study
- <u>5.</u> Conclusion: Challenges for Studying the Refiguration of Educational Landscapes Comparatively

<u>Acknowledgments</u>

References

<u>Authors</u>

Citation

#### 1. Educational Spaces and Spatiality

In a comprehensive understanding of education—which includes both formal and non-formal learning processes and formal and non-formal educational settings—we see that educational processes are influenced by space and that education plays a role in constituting space. WATSCHINGER and KÜHEBACHER (2007) described *space as the third pedagogue* in addition to the learning group and the pedagogical reference person. For urban planners, educational institutions are relevant social infrastructures. Since the 1990s, there has been an increasing tendency in Germany toward a municipalization of education, meaning that local authorities—municipalities, districts—have become increasingly responsible for coordinating and managing education, which includes acquiring general and administrative funding (COELEN, HEINRICH & MILLION, 2019; DEUTSCHER STÄDTETAG, 2007, 2012). This development has led to more integrated, municipal education planning processes involving urban planning aspects in Germany. [1]

Educational researchers have long neglected space and spatiality (DIRKS & KESSL, 2012), although in many other research disciplines a spatial turn started in the mid-1990s. Particularly for schools, the understanding of space has shifted with regard to the perception and design of educational settings and socio-spatial appropriation processes (BÖHME, 2009; OPP, 2010). The communication of new ideas of space is also gaining in importance (FRITSCHE, RAHN & REUTLINGER, 2011). At the same time, the spatial turn—especially in connection with the ongoing reorganization of social and educational policy and the associated readjustment strategies in the field of education and urban planning—has been leading to a spatial reorganization of educational settings (DIRKS, 2016; DIRKS & KESSL, 2012). According to authors such as KESSL and DIRKS, this new focus on the spatial dimension within educational science in turn requires an appropriate systematic and explicit consideration of the constitutive dimension of educational practice and the spatial reorganization of educational conditions (DIRKS, 2016; KESSL, 2016). [2]

While quantitative spatial requirements and, in particular, access to infrastructures have been the subject of research in planning sciences since the 1970s, qualitative approaches (LIBBE, KÖHLER & BECKMANN, 2010)— including pedagogical architecture, architectural training, and the participation of children and young people in creating the built environment, as well as education as a factor in social urban development—are only now increasingly being considered (MONTAG STIFTUNG JUGEND UND GESELLSCHAFT & MONTAG STIFTUNG URBANE RÄUME, 2012; UTTKE, 2012). In recent research approaches, scholars have dealt with the emergence of knowledge in towns and cities (LISOWSKI, MEYER, SCHMIDT, SPITZER-EWERSMANN & WESSELMANN, 2011) and with enabling spaces (PESCHL & FUNDNEIDER, 2012). Common areas of research explored in the past decade in both education and planning science have included *Bildungslandschaften* [educational landscapes] (BOLLWEG & OTTO, 2011) and the interfaces between education

and urban development (KESSL & REUTLINGER, 2012; MILLION, COELEN, HEINRICH, LOTH & SOMBORSKI, 2017). [3]

In this article, we discuss how the refiguration of educational landscapes can be analyzed comparatively. By "comparing," we mean, firstly, comparing practices of comparison in different disciplines—if these differ, as in the case of educational research and urban planning—a common theoretical and methodological framework has to be found. Secondly, we conceive "comparing" as comparing different local contexts. In order to illustrate how both dimensions of comparison can be addressed when analyzing processes of refiguration, in Section 2, we discuss key theoretical concepts in researching educational landscapes, namely the concepts of local educational landscapes, leitmotifs and leitbilds as well as the educational campus. We will show that the actor-network theory (ANT) can provide a common theoretical and methodological frame for interdisciplinary analysis of the refiguration of educational landscapes. In Section 3, we introduce a mixed-methods design tailored at methodologically grasping the refiguration of educational landscapes: Changing leitbilds can be perceived by analyzing group discussions using the documentary method (Section 3.1). How users appropriate space and how atmospheres change at access points and transitions in educational landscapes can be addressed by narrative maps (Section 3.2). The campus as an educational space can be tackled by mixing several methods such as ethnography, sketches, photographs, 3D visualizations and standardized data and representing them in maps (Section 3.3). In Section 4, we discuss how this mixed-methods design can and has to be modified in cross-cultural research. We conclude the article with a discussion of the implications for the relationship between cross-cultural comparison and the refiguration of spaces in Section 5. [4]

#### 2. Key Theoretical Concepts in Researching Educational Landscapes

#### 2.1 Local educational landscapes

Lokale Bildungslandschaften [local educational landscapes] are long-term cooperative arrangements between different actors from a range of formal to non-formal child care, child support, youth work, and educational institutions at a local level. In the wake of the shock resulting from German children's mediocre performance in the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development's (OECD) Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA) in 2001, educational landscapes in Germany have received increased attention from both researchers and the public at large. Below-average results achieved by German pupils as well as an above-average dependence of school success on the social background of the children were confirmed in the PISA study. This resulted in several education reforms and the subsequent rethinking of the relevance of informal education inside and outside formal educational settings. Educational landscapes—also known as educational alliances or educational networks—link the various formal and non-formal educational settings in order to facilitate overarching educational processes (BUNDESMINISTERIUM FÜR FAMILIE, SENIOREN, FRAUEN UND JUGEND, 2005). In practice, this cooperation takes place primarily between schools and other institutions, such as child and youth

work facilities, and can vary greatly. One particular type of an educational landscape is the socio-spatial educational landscape (MILLION et al., 2017), which ties educational issues to a socio-spatial concept, thus linking education with aspects of urban planning and development. A look at other countries and regions of the world reveals similar connections between education and urban planning. The Educating Cities network is one such example. Originating from an OECD project in 1990, it now has 505 member cities in 34 countries whose aim is to promote lifelong learning in "educative cities (the city as educative because of its nature) and educating cities (when there is a conscious intention of teaching)" (BELTRÁN, 2012, p.51). In MILLION et al. (2017), we identified four constitutive elements that represent the common features of socio-spatial educational landscapes in Germany:

- Variety of participating institutions: In addition to all-day school as a key institution, the spectrum of institutions involved includes, for example, organizations from the fields of early childhood education, child and youth work, cultural education, adult education, and health care. Cooperation is not limited to pedagogical-conceptual topics, but rather spatial relations between the institutions are also developed, for example by creating spatial proximity between the partners (pp.205-206).
- 2. Different forms of organizational cooperation: The participants see themselves as partners by creating structures that allow for long-term cooperation based on common goals. In most cases, non-formalized networks are formed with various forms of voluntary self-commitment, e.g., a common leitbild or a cooperation agreement (p.206).
- 3. Pedagogical and urban planning aspects in the main concept: A common feature of educational landscapes is that they have a combined concept that incorporates pedagogical and spatial aspects in their leitbild and goals—in particular, by looking at the examples that are spatially realized in terms of a campus. One aim of the campus is to provide attractive open spaces and, by creating a clearly defined physical space, not only to establish spatial proximity between institutions, but also to facilitate pedagogical and biographical transitions (p.207).
- 4. Socio-spatial relations: Within the conception and implementation of socio-spatial educational landscapes, space is understood as a central category and programmatically designed as part of the educational landscapes. This means, for example, that public spaces should be regarded as part of the campus or that spatial barriers should be overcome by connecting existing buildings with new architecture or by creating spatial connections through additional pathways. A key issue is often the process of opening up the educational landscape to the community as well as designing transitions between the campus and the neighborhood (pp.207-208; pp.212-215). [5]

In our study we showed that the institutional coordination of actors in socio-spatial educational landscapes is usually organized in the form of networks. Shared leitbilds map the network members' collective visions for the spatial and programmatic future and provide a strategic focus. These leitbilds are thus

constitutive parts of socio-spatial educational landscapes. Some of the socio-spatial educational landscapes that exist in Germany have formed a particularly intensive interface between education and urban development in the last ten years. This can be seen both in the form of institutional partnerships and networks—in educational and socio-political terms—and in spatial realizations—in terms of school architecture and urban planning. They often follow the ideal conception of the educational space as a campus. Although not fundamentally a new idea in school building, recent years have seen the campus regain acceptance as a particularly effective materialization of educational networks. [6]

As a particularly compact form of socio-spatial educational landscape, the educational campus offers an especially promising way to analyze both associated leitbilds and patterns of appropriation and use by children and young people. It is therefore the focus of our current interdisciplinary endeavor, with researchers from the fields of educational science and social work at the University of Siegen together with urban planners and designers at Technische Universität Berlin studying the development of socio-spatial educational landscapes within the research project "Der Campus als Leitbild und Praxis in Lokalen Bildungslandschaften" [The Campus as a Leitbild and Practice in Local Educational Landscapes] from 2019-2022, funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG) [German Research Foundation]. [7]

#### 2.2 Leitmotifs and leitbilds

Our previous research project revealed four central leitmotifs—that is to say, recurrent themes—that are key to the formation of socio-spatial educational landscapes in Germany (MILLION et al., 2017):

- Centrality and centralization: Often the school in cooperation with other institutions or several school facilities in close proximity to each other serve as a spatial center to share infrastructure and reduce barriers, especially to formal institutions (pp.209-212).
- 2. *Interweaving and interconnections:* A network between formal and non-formal (educational) institutions acts as a spatial interconnection between the various institutions to an educational landscape (pp.212-213).
- 3. Access points and transitions: Transitions are ensured by stakeholders and in the material design as low-threshold access to education and therefore discussed by stakeholders both in spatial terms and pedagogically in terms of educational biography (pp.213-214).
- 4. Openings and closures: School stakeholders need to be open up for other organizations as well as educational landscape stakeholders need to be open up for other users, for example, all age groups and the neighborhood (pp.214-216). [8]

These leitmotifs are not clearly delineated from one another, but rather overlap to some extent. Existing and planned, idealistic and spatial interdependencies between urban development and education are expressed through them. With

our current research, we have been again looking at educational landscapes—in particular those in the physical and programmatic design of a campus—based on the researched leitmotifs described above. Our aim is to explore how the campus as a vision of the future and as a leitbild within expert planning processes is created and what importance is assigned to it. Further blind spots on which we focus are the users of educational landscapes—especially students—, their perception of space, and the processes of appropriation that take place on campus (see Section 3). [9]

Researchers have formulated principles, key objectives, and concepts along most socio-spatial educational landscapes, including pedagogical and spatial targets, and have treated them in an integrated manner to some extent (COELEN, HEINRICH & MILLION, 2015). This is sometimes accompanied by identityforming documents and artifacts—e.g., cooperation agreements, logos, journals, websites, social media presentations. GIESEL (2007) referred to these examples of shared hopes and visions for the future that are verbalized collectively as a leitbild. Such a leitbild provides a strategic focus for network members in an educational alliance and security with regard to their jointly formulated visions and development scenarios (JESSEN, 2005). In addition to their role as an image (orientation), leitbilds also have a guiding role (control) (KUDER, 2004). As a key coordination and control tool (ABEL, 2000), it is possible to underpin the emergence, stabilization, and capacity for action of networks by means of leitbilds. In addition to the formulated leitbild, the leitbild process itself also involves a communication and consensus building function and, closely linked to it, a legitimization function for the particular expert network. The purpose of the leitbild formulation process is to create common points of reference, understanding, and arguments as a way of facilitating and anchoring consensual decision-making (for an urban planning context, see ALTROCK, 2005; GOLDSCHMIDT & TAUBENEK, 2010; HEINRICH, 2013). [10]

Besides the leitbild-related research carried out by GIESEL (2007) and the technology research carried out by ABEL (2000) and DIERKES (1997), another significant leitbild-related research area is spatial planning (ARING & SINZ, 2006; KNIELING, 2006; KUDER, 2004; SCHÄFERS & KÖHLER, 1989; SPIEKERMANN, 2000; STREICH, 1988). Leitbilds are applied in spatial planning as instruments for mapping and discussing potential spatial developments (JESSEN, 2005), for future-oriented strategic orientation, and for developing physical and programmatic ideas. In education science, the term leitbild was introduced in the late 1980s and early 1990s and linked concepts of the leitbild from other disciplines and research contexts. In education science, leitbilds are also discussed as a tool for profile development and for quality assurance within institutions (LENZEN, 2001; MANDEL, 2006; PHILIPP & ROLFF, 1998; REGENTHAL, 1999). In addition to leitbilds, the concept of education and its various forms are also discussed widely throughout Germany, as we illustrate next. [11]

#### 2.3 Research on educational landscapes

In its "Zwölfter Kinder- und Jugendbericht" [Twelfth Report on Children and Young People], the Bundesministerium für Familie, Senioren, Frauen und Jugend (BMFSFJ) [Federal Ministry for Family Affairs, Senior Citizens, Women and Youth] (2005) defined the consolidation of educational opportunities as an educational goal, thus encouraging mixed-use and the establishment of a coherent overall system of education. Many actors and networks, both at the national and local level and in local politics, expect these goals to be achieved by setting up an educational landscape as a campus in physical, material, and, as such, locatable form (MILLION et al., 2017). So far, only a dozen educational landscapes have been built, and several more are under construction. As a result, there is still no research on how and whether educational landscapes provide an adequate setting for students, educationalists, and other users in everyday life in order to realize the above-mentioned goals. An empirical examination of users and uses is relevant because, at the specific policy and scientific level, local educational landscapes involve first and foremost children and young people, with adults only being addressed to a lesser extent as users though crucially as authority figures, e.g., parents, teachers, educators. While these actors are frequently taken into account in teaching and learning research —in particular in research on (all-day) schools (COELEN & STECHER, 2014; SPECK, OLK, BÖHM-KASPER, STOLZ & WIEZOREK, 2011)—, they have not been sufficiently analyzed in recent research work on educational landscapes. Very little is currently known about the perspectives of children and youth on campus (GRÄBEL, WÜSTENROT STIFTUNG & STUDIO FÜR URBANE LANDSCHAFTEN, 2015; MATTERN & LINDER, 2015). [12]

Another way of understanding educational landscapes is to see them as spaces of extended (educational) control. In the final report of our previous study, we concluded not only that it was possible to observe the increasing time spent by children and young people in educational and care institutions, but also their entire everyday life was increasingly marked by pedagogization (MILLION et al., 2017). This is underpinned by the leitbild of a campus, which expands pedagogical spaces both spatially and temporally across a large part of the day and, in the context of lifelong learning, over an entire biography. This may influence children and young people's perception and appropriation of space. MATTERN and LINDER (2015) commented critically on this concentration of diverse educational actors within an educational landscape. The joint effort of educators and urban planners and the realization of educational landscapes means not only better support for the individual, but also increased visibility and better control of the individual. At the same time, LÖW (2018, p.7) pointed to an increased mediatization of the school environment, describing it as a polycontextual behavioral setting while at the same time giving an example of how students simultaneously overlap different spatial references:

"350 out of 477 schools in Hamburg have their schoolyards monitored by CCTV. At the territorial level, students communicate with other groups in the yard during break-time to distinguish or dissociate themselves; at the relational level, they communicate

vis-à-vis some (schoolyard-)external control room from which they are observed; and digital media allow them to communicate with friends and family outside of school, sometimes even abroad. Thus, it is the schoolyard, rather than the surrounding neighborhood (which is unfamiliar to most, since they travel to school via the fixed trajectory paths of public transport), that represents the communicative hub within the students' urban network." [13]

Consequently, a pluralization and heterogenization of spatial references has been taking place, which could provide a productive lens for us to observe young people's understandings and actions in educational landscapes. It could also allow us to study young people's use of socio-spatial educational landscapes. Furthermore, REUTLINGER (2011) warned—also from a spatial theory perspective—against the possible visibility and control of all areas of young people's lives. Since the 1980s, the modes of pedagogization and control have differentiated (CASTILLO, MILLION & SCHWERER, 2021): Children and adolescents are being pushed out of a growing number of spaces, either explicitly —e.g., by rules communicated through signs—or more subtly—e.g., by designs that make certain uses difficult. Moreover, by designing educational landscapes as a campus—e.g., arrangement, materiality, location—, planners and pedagogues can suggest certain uses and behaviors that they consider appropriate and discourage others. This development is headed in the direction of exclusive, ascribed, pedagogized, specialized spaces for children and young people—further examples are playgrounds, skate parks. Thus, these developments also represent a form of stabilization of child-dedicated and youthdedicated spaces, although we can critically debate whether these spaces address the needs of children and young people or correspond to the preferences of adult actors instead. In this respect, the heterogenization and pluralization of children and young people's spatial references described above can represent a type of compensation or can make these spaces guite attractive. These developments relate to both institutional spaces, such as educational landscapes and other care facilities, and diverse public, semi-public, and private spaces alike (ibid.). [14]

This underlines the *need for user-oriented research on educational spaces and the inclusion of a refiguration perspective* as intergenerational and intra-institutional tensions can also be interpreted as refiguration conflicts (KNOBLAUCH & LÖW, 2020). Although researchers have yet to address the significance of the educational campus from the user's perspective, our study presented in this article can draw from a wealth of studies on how children and young people use learning environments (FRITSCHE, GÜNNEWIG, KESSL & REUTLINGER, 2013; HERLYN, VON SEGGERN, HEINZELMANN & KAROW, 2003; VON SEGGERN & STUDIO FÜR URBANE LANDSCHAFTEN, 2009). One inspiring approach to taking into account the campus level was outlined in the "My Campus" study (GOTHE & PFADENHAUER, 2010). In this study, the authors stated that the socio-spatial analysis of such places, where knowledge society is—or could be—proverbially *lived*, had long been neglected. The aim of

<sup>1</sup> All translations from non-English texts are ours.

the study was to reconstruct the "interplay between lived and built space" (p.11) using explorative interviews and journals based on the example of the Karlsruhe Institute of Technology campus. First and foremost, the authors were able to provide answers to questions about the perception and use of the campus space and diversified university student needs and expectations. GOTHE and PFADENHAUER were also able to examine evaluation leitbilds and thus to represent what is commonly termed the *atmosphere* of space as an interlacing of multiple dimensions. [15]

Furthermore, in the case of socio-spatial educational landscapes, users and uses are embedded in a *reciprocal network of sociality and materiality*. Here, the educational theories of space are based on *the relational understanding of space* as characterized by LÖW (2001). According to this approach, space is constituted as a process through the ordering and figuration of social goods and people on the basis of linking and placement practices and thus manifests itself as a hybrid of material conditions and social use (LÖW & GEIER, 2014). Additionally, the quality of the physical-material environment influences social action, which in turn places demands on the physical space (GEHL, 1987). Form and structure, function, possibilities of use, and the—e.g., exciting, communicative—figuration and organization of a place influence the accessibility, appropriation, and intensity of use. The actors and uses of a campus therefore cannot be analyzed separately from the physical-material manifestation of space, but rather must be seen as embedded in a network of relationships consisting of people, actions, attributions, and spatial figurations. [16]

DEINET and REUTLINGER (2014) as well as ANDERSSON, REUTLINGER, ROTH and ZIMMERMANN (2019) focused on certain patterns of youth behavior and explained that young people created their own spaces by re-designating and changing spaces and situations. These processes can be seen as appropriation processes. The appropriation of (educational) spaces can be conceptualized using terms such as addressing, placing, and locating (NUGEL, 2014). In educational theories of space, scholars take into account institutional and individual spatial practices, including their preconditions, with a dialogical grammar, meaning they also consider individual or collective rejections of positionings. This involves both defining how education is shaped by spaces and how spaces are conceptualized as an educational process. In this sense, COELEN (2002) regarded spatial reference as individually configurable and therefore capable of being pedagogically motivated. DERECIK (2015, p.17) cited the concept of appropriation, "that fathoms human development not as an internal psychological process influenced to a greater or lesser extent from the 'outside', but understands developments as a manner of actively dealing with the environment." [17]

This concept was originally proposed by LEONTJEW (1964 [1959]). DERECIK went on to refer to HOLZKAMP and SCHURIG (1973), who further developed the concept of appropriation with regard to social connection and current social conditions. The operationalization of the appropriation dimension is important for the description and analysis of young people's activities in spaces—namely,

appropriation as an extension of motor skills, as an extension of the range of action, as changing situations, as a connection of spaces, as "spacing" and "achieving a synthesis" (LÖW, 2001, p.158). Another particularly original approach to exploring children and young people's perspectives on institutional places of learning in social space was used by GRÄBEL et al. (2015) who showed that—although educational institutions cannot replace everyday life in a neighborhood or village—schools nevertheless play a particularly important role in the development of educational landscapes in connection with a neighborhood, district, or region. Apart from international research on the spatial experience, perception, and demands of children and young people in urban contexts (GÜLGÖNEN & CORONA, 2015; LÚCIO, 2015; REUTLINGER, 2003), there are also studies on the function of material elements with regard to the child-friendly and child-appropriate design of (outdoor) play areas (LØNDAL, NORBECK & THOREN, 2015) and on the significance of urban spaces for socialization during childhood and adolescence (DE VISSCHER, BOUVERNE-DE BIE & VERSCHELDEN, 2012). [18]

In the current theoretical debate on appropriation of spaces, spatial scientists go beyond the state of research outlined above and question the self-evident distinction between human actors—e.g., students—and material structures—e.g., architecture—, thus explicitly imagining materiality as an actor (HASSE, 2015). This is part of the material turn (NOHL & WULF, 2013) that has taken place in social and spatial sciences in recent years and the associated rediscovery of things and materiality as an epistemological dimension in educational science (PRIEM, KÖNIG & CASALE, 2012). Such an investigation of actors and uses takes place, for example, within the methodological framework of actor-network theory (ANT) and the theoretical approaches derived from it, such as assemblage research (FARÍAS & BENDER, 2010), in which material manifestations are regarded as effective actors in social processes. From a methodological point of view, the use of the heuristic concept of ANT makes it possible to overcome the dichotomization of human actors and non-human things and thus to empirically investigate the nexus between sociality and materiality. Theoretical and empirical work of this type—examples being DELITZ (2009) for sociology, NOHL (2011) for pedagogy or PINEDA (2010) for traffic systems research—has emerged on a both national and international scale, making it possible to perform in-depth analyses of the interrelationships between social and material structures in the context of the constitution of space in the field of education. All in all, the view that spaces/things enable social interaction/educational processes and vice versa seems extremely insightful, particularly since it appears to be sensitive to space (HÖHNE & UMLAUF, 2014). There are, however, currently only a few isolated empirical studies in which researchers deal with socio-material configurations within the context of educational spaces. [19]

# 3. Research Framework for Leitbilds and the Perception and Use of Educational Landscapes

The overarching goal of our research has been to analyze socio-spatial educational landscapes, both within their context of emergence and in an international comparison. We have used an interdisciplinary approach to explore the socio-spatial concept of the campus as an educational space in order to examine both the aspects of education and the aspects of urban planning and design. By employing various qualitative research methods, we have attempted to investigate the perspective of children and young people—through mappings combined with interviews and observation—and the professional actors—through group discussions and observations—of the campus and their visions to determine their internalized leitbild using a combination of qualitative methods. In addition, the researchers themselves have conducted a spatial analysis to gain a comprehensive picture of the materiality of space. Below we provide an overview of the different steps used to study educational campuses. We aim to demonstrate how we trace planning and pedagogical processes that take place in campus-like socio-spatial educational landscapes in selected German municipalities. In the next stage, we will attempt to achieve an internationally comparative perspective (see Section 4). [20]

#### 3.1 Study of campus leitbilds

In our research, we follow the assumption that the development and establishment of leitbilds from local educational landscapes and the (further) development and capacity for action of expert networks of local educational alliances form "an interdependent process" (ABEL, 2000, p.170). Transferred to the educational landscape as a topic of research, this means that the significance of the central (urban planning) figure of the educational campus "is constituted at the outset in the shared preoccupation with leitbilds, in talking about them and [the] related actions" (GIESEL, 2007, pp.15ff.) of the actors or the author. We assume that it is possible to observe and reconstruct interdependent leitbild processes and expert networks in such educational alliances using local educational landscapes that meet the urban planning criteria for campuses. [21]

To this end, we will use *group discussions* in the various committees of the educational landscape. Depending on the campus, the number of committees varies widely, as well as the number of committee members varies from about five to twelve. We plan to research the committees that are thematically relevant to us, like those that deal with the pedagogical and spatial concept of the campus, or committees that encompass all institutions located on campus. After a discussion stimulus on the campus mission statement by someone from our research team, BOHNSACK (2010, p.106) says the discussion is largely left to its own devices to allow participants to negotiate the topic independently. We will analyze the group discussions using the *documentary method*. This method originated from the sociology of knowledge and the ethno-methodological tradition of research by MANNHEIM. It was developed by BOHNSACK for the analysis of group discussions in the 1980s and was soon integrated into various

disciplinary fields in Germany and gradually into English-speaking academic fields as well (BOHNSACK, PFAFF & WELLER, 2010). When applied to group discussions, the documentary method can be used to determine shared orientations of a group on the basis of common backgrounds such as gender, age, social milieu, or professional socialization. There are no actual shared experiences, but rather collectively experienced conditions. The collective orientations are first analyzed in terms of content with regard to "what" was said in the group discussion. This pertains to the reflective or communicative knowledge of the participants. This is followed by a change in the analysis attitude toward "how" in order to make the subjective and thus action-guiding knowledge of the respondents visible. Individuals are not conscious of this collective stock of knowledge (EVERS, 2009, §12). These subjunctive spaces of experience—independent of the subjectively intended meaning—form a structural context or collective knowledge context (BOHNSACK, 2003, 2010). "It is the change from the question what social reality is in the perspective of the actors, to the question how this reality is produced or accomplished in these actors' everyday practice" (BOHNSACK, 2010, p.102). Hence, the analysis of "what" becomes a formulating interpretation where the focus is "the decoding and formulation of the topical structure of a text," while the analysis of "how" involves a reflecting interpretation to find out "the framework of orientation" (p.111). [22]

As the study and therefore the group discussions take place in already existing committees and situations similar to those encountered in everyday life, they are particularly suited for "producing authentic attitudes and opinions" (LAMNEK & KRELL, 2016 [1988/1989], p.397). The aim is to determine the collective orientations of the group. In doing so, it is assumed that when people interact with one another, the same or similar experiences are manifested and these experiences are based on common experiential spaces independent of actual shared experiences. Different experiential spaces may overlay one another, permitting a multi-dimensional analysis (BOHNSACK, 2010). The particularity of the documentary method is the largely thematic self-determination of the group compared to other group discussion processes and the automatic nature of the discourse. Several surveys are carried out in each committee to identify orientation patterns in more than one study situation and to achieve reliable results (BOHNSACK, NENTWIG-GESEMANN & NOHL, 2013). Additionally, this process includes participating observations during regular committee meetings so that the results from the group discussions can be supplemented with observation protocols in order to learn the context of a topic. [23]

# 3.2 Study of appropriations and atmospheres of access points and transitions in educational landscapes

In our investigation of appropriations and atmospheres of selected places in educational landscapes, we have been addressing the subjective perspectives of children and young people on the educational campus. We have been focusing on access points to the campus and transitions within the different campus areas. Our previous research showed that the removal of material barriers—such as fences, walls, entrances and exits, non-direct or circuitous routes—was one way of meeting the already described urban planning and educational motifs opening up facilities—such as lecture halls, libraries, workshops, canteens, sports facilities —so that they could also be used by the local community outside school hours. Access points and transitions are of particular importance to children and young people because they also represent the transition from the regulated and supervised school grounds to the unsupervised neighborhood. Until now, it has been assumed that an appropriate physical design of entrance breaks down certain barriers—e.g., not entering or using a building because of what it represents—and gives the school as an institution the opportunity to present itself (HALFMANN & METZ, 2007). Entrance contexts mark the transitions and border spaces between inside and outside, between different subunits on campus and between the school campus and the neighborhood (on schoolyards see KLIKA, 2012). VON SEGGERN and STUDIO FÜR URBANE LANDSCHAFTEN (2009) established that young people met up and spent time in these boundary spaces in particular (also see the example of creating counter-cultural space through physical presence in LÖW, 2001). Our key research questions have been:

- How is the campus—as a whole and in its various parts—perceived and used?
- To what extent do material manifestations shape the spatial educational and appropriation behavior of individual social groups—e.g., cliques, parents, the elderly—and to what extent does this behavior in turn affect forms of materiality?
- What significance do individual social groups assign to access and transition contexts on the campus? [24]

Our aim has been to answer these questions by surveying campus users in *qualitative interviews*. Our focus is on young users between the ages of 14 to 18 and their behavior and perceptions since age-specific developmental tasks and behavioral patterns are attributed to these adolescents—e.g., dealing with changing schools and school transitions, extracurricular education, individual educational-biography and identity issues. From the perspective of spatial theory, our focus on this age group is based on studies that pointed, among other things, to the spatial interfaces between school and surrounding neighborhood as preferred places for young people (HERLYN et al., 2003; LÖW, 2001). [25]

In addition to the interviews with young people, we have been using mapping to visualize their perceptions of the campus. DAUM (2014) assumed that

(subjective) mapping not only reflects the perception of a space but also represents a subjective world view and appropriation as well as spatial memory structures. In addition, subjective or mental mapping is already being used in educational and planning science and is therefore suitable for our interdisciplinary research (MILLION, 2021a). One form of subjective mapping is the narrative map described by BEHNKEN and ZINNECKER (2013). This ethnographic process from visual social research allows researchers to reconstruct the "personal living spaces of the respondents and their subjective relevance" (p.547), as well as references such as events, places, and people beyond the local such as translocal or virtual spaces, which are relevant in young people's lives and can be addressed in mappings and narratives (MILLION, 2021a). In order to elicit a narrative map, the respondents are first encouraged to produce an improvised sketch of their own living space. The accompanying explanations are documented using recording equipment. The interviewers also make notes on the process. Once the respondents finished the task, immanent follow-up questions are asked to provide clarification and explication to topics discussed before. This is followed by an opportunity for exmanent questions, that are not related to the topics discussed so far (BOHNSACK, 2010, p.116). Usually, the sketching exercise and questioning is done in person. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the non-accessibility of educational buildings for researchers, we had to adapt this method to an interview situation and sketching exercise that is conducted with Zoom—a cloud-based video conference service (see Figure 1). This decision was also backed by methodological reflection. DOWNS (1985) emphasized that the researched person usually focuses on the representation of physical environmental attributes when sketching by hand on paper. In our opinion, this does not fully grasp the expanding spatial relevance of young people. The use of a digital sketching tool can motivate processes of visualization and has lowthreshold accessibility for children (KRÄMER & PEEZ, 2015). In addition, the digital format makes it easier to modify drawings during the mapping process, which can also lower barriers to the drawing process (ibid., see also LE DÉ, GAILLARD, GAMPELL, LOODIN & CADAG, 2020). Figure 1 shows an example how the campus was drawn by a young participant as part of a narrative mapping exercise using a cloud-based video conference service. Colored lines mark places added after follow-up interview questions such as buildings, the boundary of the campus, and various routes onto the campus or paths on the campus before and during the pandemic. The symbols indicate, for example, places of special significance or places on the campus that are avoided.



Figure 1: Digital sketch map as part of a mapping exercise using a cloud-based video conference service. Please <u>click</u> here for an enlarged version of Figure 1. [26]

Narrative maps can be analyzed using various approaches depending on the research focus, for example, by coding and quantifying all spatial elements—places, paths, objects, boundaries, etc. Likewise, it is possible to analyze the manner in which the elements have been drawn and to consider their position within the drawing as a whole. The center of the analysis is the plausibility of a central axiom (BEHNKEN & ZINNECKER, 2013). An element located in the center of the narrative map, for example, may stand for its central significance in the lifeworld of the respondent. Objects that are represented in isolation or omitted may indicate a limited lifeworld or something similar. Another way of evaluating narrative maps is to compare them with official maps. In the case of our educational campus research project, for example, it is possible to compare the narrative maps with maps and spatial analyses prepared by the researchers, and to translate verbal information into maps. This makes it possible to identify precisely the unique characteristics of a subjective lifeworld. [27]

When interpreting maps and interviews, it is important to ensure that the reciprocal process of matching, intersecting, and embedding the variety of material produced—map and associated slides, transcripts, research notes, etc. —is comprehensible not only within the research team but also for other researchers. As data triangulation is appropriate to present the complexity of the lifeworld under examination, the reduction in ambiguity achieved by combining various types of data also simplifies interpretation. This consolidation of material should therefore be recorded in an academic source text that presents the material included in the triangulation, such as intermediate cartographic products created by comparing, transferring, or overlaying maps. Thus, the research question can be answered in a consistent manner. Interpretative conclusions are set out in a separate text; though the connection between the two texts must remain clear (ibid.). The comparison of narrative maps of the same educational landscape created by different respondents seems to be particularly relevant in the proposed campus project, as this would highlight subjective perspectives and thus individual lifeworld's within the same environment. [28]

#### 3.3 Study of the campus as an educational space

In order to be able to depict comprehensive narrative maps spatially, they must be supplemented using spatial analysis methods. Our research framework allowed us to observe the social actions of users in the context of the material-physical conditions of a local educational campus, thus contributing to the understanding and analysis of the (re-)production of a socio-material reality. To establish the connection between sociality and materiality, it is necessary to systematically collect both quantitative and qualitative spatial data (DANGSCHAT & KOGLER, 2019 [2014]). We decided to proceed in two steps, as suggested by educational research on materiality in educational processes (NOHL & WULF, 2013). [29]

In the first step, we conducted a spatial analysis of the physical (urban) design and architectural conditions of the campus to capture the complexity of the physical-material dimensions of campus development (CURDES, 1997 [1993];

REICHER, 2017 [2012]). To identify different aspects of the physical-architectural conditions and spatial features of the campus, we captured the following *aspects* of the spatial features by means of *mapping* (MILLION et al., 2017, p.215; REICHER, 2017 [2012], pp.163-165; ZINKE, KLEPP & BILJAN, forthcoming):

- the integration or demarcation of the campus into/from the surrounding neighborhood;
- the building structure as well as the access points and transitions between indoor and outdoor spaces—including building typologies and configuration, façade design, visual relationships, interruptions;
- territoriality and formation—of green and outdoor spaces including public/semi-public/private spaces, accessibility, furniture;
- patterns of use and appropriation—e.g., paths, routes, informal meeting places;
- accessibility—e.g., public transportation, function and hierarchy of streets and pathways;
- the *interconnectedness of the campus*—e.g., pathways and sight lines, permeability and barriers, entry, exit, and transition areas, fences/gates/walls.



Figure 2: Sketches, photographs, and 3D visualizations showing spatial structure of a campus. Please <u>click</u> here for an enlarged version of Figure 2. [30]

Sketches, photographs, and 3D visualizations have been produced of the campus projects. This makes it possible for us to carry out a more *in-depth analysis and representation of the physical-material dimensions*. Figure 2 provides an example of such visualizations. This illustration shows a site map and spatial features of the campus, for example, access points, transitions, green and outdoor spaces, etc. Notes, photographs, and sketches are useful for *mapping and documenting the site and its physical-material characteristics*, as well as capturing *atmospheres, patterns of use and the activities taking place*. Therefore, in the second step, qualitative spatial data (DANGSCHAT & KOGLER, 2019 [2014]) are collected and recorded as maps and sketches. Socio-spatial artifacts are recorded as subjectively perceived, establishing a link to LÖW's sociology of space (2001). It is important to grasp the local conditions with all senses and not just by seeing, which is achieved using associative perceptual walks (SPENGEMANN, 1993). To avoid falling back on a-priori typologies that entail a different perception and evaluation (cognition) of social space (DANGSCHAT &

KOGLER, 2019 [2014]), the study included the detailed description, mapping, and analysis of the materiality of architectural artifacts (NOHL & WULF, 2013), as illustrated in Figure 2. [31]

Both the analysis of the embedding of the senses in an everyday context (LUEGER, 2000) and the treatment of artifacts (FROSCHAUER, 2009; LUEGER, 2000) allows a multi-perspective approach in further phases of the study. Our study focused on access points and transitions on local educational campuses and their logic (BERKING & LÖW, 2008). One example would be architectural artifacts as central elements of mediation between inside and outside, between the private and public spheres, between institutionalized and non-institutionalized space, and other spaces that act in this way symbolically, materially, and in relation to the site at the same time (STEETS, 2015). In order to document development processes in connection with built realizations, we conducted such analyses in a standardized form both at the beginning of the two-year field phase and will conduct it at the end. Based on these spatial analyses, it is possible to take into account processes of exchange between people and things themselves (NOHL & WULF, 2013). Drawing on ethnographic field research, this involves participatory observations (FRIEBERTSHÄUSER & PANAGIOTOPOULOU, 2013; TERVOOREN, ENGEL, GRÖHLICH, MIETHE & REH, 2014), which make it possible "to record remnant and partial practices which, though very difficult to grasp linguistically, are central to the constitution of new hybrid actors (and so of new sense)" (NOHL & WULF, 2013, p.7). With regard to the use of spaces, focus is placed on interactions between physical-material characteristics, possible uses, and the activities that take place—e.g., sitting, walking, driving, standing, reading, talking, etc. Connections are sought by distinguishing between different necessary, voluntary, and resulting—activities and the characteristics of the physical environment (FRITSCHE et al., 2013; GEHL, 1987) and then evaluated in relation to the goals defined in the planning phase for both individuals and communities (ENGESTRÖM, 2014 [2010]). The appropriation of space depends on the readability and understanding of the spatial environment, and both are basic prerequisites for social action (WOLTER, 2011). We therefore have been operationalizing the appropriation dimension in the form of actions (DEINET & REUTLINGER, 2014; DERECIK, 2015). In a subsequent step, the observed data will be interpreted in terms of interactions between spatial materialities and activities. Another aspect of our research is transformation, meaning the possible mutations and changeability of places and spaces. The function, characteristics, and meaning of campus facilities change over time as a result of the actions of their users on the one hand and local-government strategies on the other (GOTHE & PFADENHAUER, 2010). [32]

One methodological challenge in connection with our research program is to capture the campus in its refiguration, that is, in its constant change. Similar to buildings, campus areas and buildings under construction, as well as completed campus areas with their buildings, are, in the words of LATOUR and YANEVA (2008, p.80), a "moving project" since the campus as a built space "is transformed by its users, modified by all of what happens inside and outside." We have been addressing this modification over time by mapping and analyzing the

materiality of architectural artifacts at the beginning and end of the field phase to make changes visible (see Figure 2). According to LATOUR and YANEVA, the 3D-CAD visualization "of a project is [...] utterly unrealistic" (pp.81-82) due to the challenge of having to depict a multitude of dimensions, such as legal and urban planning conditions that are difficult to represent or the contradictory requirements of the many actors or users that a purely quantitative representation cannot take into account. In accordance with the actor-network theory (ANT), we do not wish to make an epistemological distinction between individuals—children, young people, adults—, social groups—cliques, organizations, families, etc.—, and material opportunity structures—pedagogical architecture or urban planning measures—in our observations. In our research project, material e.g., entrances and exits, fences, non-direct or circuitous routes, etc.—have been considered active, acting elements in the constitution of educational spaces and categorized as equally effective actors alongside social manifestations (CALLON, 2006; LATOUR, 2006). In fact, these forms of articulation are regarded as equally important: "the free association applied in the research approach towards all identifiable actants and the analysis of the inclusions and exclusions yielded produces more than just surprising findings on the distribution of actor power" (FÄRBER, 2014, p.100). The recourse to ANT as a heuristic framework also allows us to overcome the separation between spatial science and educational science approaches to socio-spatial contexts in local educational landscapes observed to date and to adopt an interdisciplinary research perspective (FÄRBER, 2014; HÖHNE & UMLAUF, 2014). For this reason, we have been using ANT as a reference theory for our observations only. For interviews and group discussions we have been using BOHNSACK's (2003, 2010) documentary method as our methodological framework. [33]

The aim of the present study is to provide a *comprehensive coverage and* explanation of our research object: the refiguration of socio-spatial educational landscapes in the context of Germany. This approach requires us to triangulate not only methods but also data to cope with the complexity of different data forms and perspectives (ACKEL-EISNACH & MÜLLER, 2012). The aforementioned methodological diversity enables us to take a comprehensive look at German educational landscapes that are spatially realized as a campus in order to do justice to their spatial, educational, conceptual, and cooperative interconnectedness. Therefore, it is useful to first specify the constitutive elements of socio-spatial educational landscapes in Germany to better understand them and concretize the research object, as in the current research project. This enables us to assess their characteristics in an international comparison in a next step, for example, within another research project. The following section shows some considerations in this regard. [34]

### 4. Refiguration of Educational Landscapes and Application of Methods in Cross-Cultural Studies

When analyzing the concept of the socio-spatial educational landscape from an international perspective, we are faced with the challenge that educational landscapes are already difficult to grasp in the German context due of the variety of physical forms and programmatic actions. In our study, we therefore purposefully chose a methodological design that focuses on long-term cooperation between multi-professional actors and institutions in terms of education and includes a spatial differentiation and materialization of formal and informal educational settings from the perspective of the learning subject (BLECKMANN & DURDEL, 2009). The socio-spatial educational landscapes as a campus described in this article, and as we find them in Germany in some towns and cities, are not likely to be found in this particular form in other countries. For example, educational landscapes might differ concerning the variety of participating institutions, the forms of organizational cooperation, pedagogical and urban planning aspects in the main concept and socio-spatial relations. Often only some of these variables are present, such as collaboration between a school and other institutions. A combined pedagogical and spatial concept as discussed in Section 2 is quite rare. If we consider the idea of educational landscapes in a different cultural context based on our previous research, we are confronted with a methodological and interdisciplinary "blind spot." According to BAUR, HERRING, RASCHKE and THIERBACH (2014, p.13), these blind spots should be given special attention in research in an international context:

"This is especially important in order to distinguish necessary perspectives from prejudices and other variants of partiality that distort research because researchers are so entangled in their own value system that they systematically misinterpret or even peculate data. Researchers are particularly prone to prejudices and blind spots when researching a culture other than their own (i.e. a set of time-space coordinates foreign to them)." [35]

Internationally, we encounter different framework conditions under which educational landscapes are created and can therefore take on different sociospatial forms. To implement our research design internationally, as researchers, we have to be much more open to different educational settings and look less at the international differentiation of educational settings with our previous (national) understanding of an educational setting. Nevertheless, based on the refiguration of spaces, we can trace circulations of pedagogical concepts and education space designs to guide our search. At the same time, it is necessary to embrace variations and contradictions as they help us avoid the blind spots discussed before. It is clear to us that this results in a methodological contradiction, which we will elaborate on in Section 4.2. Before doing so, we will explain in Section 4.1 the general conditions in which educational landscapes are embedded internationally according to the current state of research. [36]

### 4.1 Challenges for conducting cross-cultural research on educational landscapes

Historically, education science and planning science have been separated at both the national and international level and school development has been a topic long ignored in urban planning science (VINCENT, 2006). However, international studies both confirm the crucial role of educational institutions in social urban development and regeneration (ANDRÉ, CARMO, ABREU, ESTEVENS & MALHEIROS, 2012) and illustrate the blurring geographic, institutional, and policy boundaries surrounding schools. This fuzziness is expressed not least in the current development of educational landscapes. This development is essentially, but not exclusively, due to developments in schools. Although we can observe an international trend in education (CUMMINGS, 2011; DYSON, 2011), there is nevertheless a lack of consistency in the terminology used, such as "academy schools" (UK), "community school" (Australia, Canada, UK, USA), "full-service and extended school" (UK), "open school" and "broad school" (Netherlands) or "city educational project" (Spain). DYSON (2011, p.181) defined the similarities between these concepts as follows: "they have to acknowledge and engage with the wider social and service contexts within which they are located, and the family and community contexts within which their students live and grow." SMITH (2010) [1996]) argued that these schools were characterized by their openness to their local communities—both in terms of the curriculum and the building structure and their collaboration with other partners in the areas of sports, culture, health, and social services. He also used the term "campus" to describe the sum of their facilities. However, as KEMP (2015, p.91) pointed out, the term "community school," for example, is used in many different ways around the world today:

"[I]n Australia it describes independent schools that serve a particular community group such as Aborigines, in the UK the majority of state-run schools are referred to as 'community schools' and in the U.S. it describes a small proportion of public or private schools that become centres of the community and are open to everyone—every day, evenings and weekends. The U.S. description of 'community schools' is perhaps closest to an ideal that is currently being called for in many school building programs. New school buildings are seen as an opportunity to unite students and communities through openness, shared facilities, lifelong education and local partnerships." [37]

In some countries (e.g., Sweden), schools have traditionally been so closely linked to their community or community work that no specific terminology is used. However, there have also been efforts more recently to design school buildings in a way that creates a mutually beneficial relationship between school and community, like a school near Gothenburg (Sweden), which is part of a larger community building (KEMP, 2015). In contrast, these developments are explicitly encouraged in other countries by means of corresponding programs, such as the SchoolPLUS leitbild or the "Neighbourhood of Learning" program in rural areas of Canada (CUMMINGS, 2011). The UK-wide "Building Schools for the Future" (BSF) and "Academy Schools" programs, dating back to 2004 to 2012—which slowly came to an end after a budget cutback was imposed in 2010—, aimed to

improve failing schools and promote urban regeneration—as they were mostly situated in troubled neighborhoods—by transforming the education system with the renewal of all secondary schools in the UK (CHILES, 2015). In some of these reform programs around the world—this applies to Scandinavian countries such as Denmark, Finland, and Norway, as well as to the UK and the USA—it is characteristic for attempts to be made to experiment with new spatial arrangements influenced by new learning paradigms when designing the educational space. This new learning paradigm includes aspects such as "personalisation of curricula, student-centred learning and curricula based on project work," in order to offer more freedom in terms of how and where one learns (p.20). The "Gentofte" program, a local program in Denmark, for example, assumes "that the children's learning is strongly influenced by the quality of space" and that "everyone learns differently" (p.17). [38]

These developments are usually scientifically monitored and evaluated when it comes to support programs. The "service and extended schools" in the UK are evaluated in terms of outcomes and impact, including cost benefit (CUMMINGS, 2011). DYSON (2011) studied the interaction between "community schools" and their local communities. DYSON too, however, came to the conclusion that many schools that developed into educational landscapes were neither labeled nor documented and monitored as such. Based on a literature review, BLACKMORE et al. (2011) stressed that there was little empirical work on how new built learning environments were perceived by students, teachers, and others, or to what effect they were used. In addition, TSE, LEAROYD-SMITH, STABLES and DANIELS (2014), for example, provided a critical analysis of the BSF program in the UK, examining how strategic visions of education had been developed and translated into material spaces in new school buildings within the BSF program, as well as how design processes impacted children and young people's experiences of the school environment and education. A common thread running through much of the available research is that the dimension of physical space is seen only as a static background. [39]

Nevertheless, during the current COVID-19 crisis, nearly all recreational and schooling activities have been temporarily relocated to the homes. Educational networking within educational landscapes seems to be on hold. While children and young people normally grow up in a mixture of outdoor spaces, family, educational landscapes, and virtual worlds, they are currently doing so at home and potentially with the help of online tools, which are being used by schools to a much greater extent than before. Instead of conquering spaces and constituting new places of play and encounter through networking, mediatized worlds are penetrated by educational institutions more clearly than ever before. Smartphones, tablets, and computers are becoming indispensable teaching tools. Their portability is taking on a secondary role, as teaching via these media devices has necessarily been taking place at home, in the kitchen, in the living room, or in the children and young people's bedrooms since schools in Germany and other European countries were closed due to COVID-19 in mid-March 2020 and several other times thereafter. There are similar situations in other countries, albeit with some differences. But overall, educational campuses have been and

are being closed, partly temporally and physically, almost everywhere. As a consequence, educational landscapes have also manifested themselves more as mediatized educational spaces. Because of these processes, we expect a change to take place in the subjective spatial experiences of the individuals who are involved in this temporary refiguration of educational spaces. In addition, as educational landscapes and the pedagogization of spaces are a global phenomenon, which is also spread by design practices circulating worldwide (CASTILLO et al., 2021), the refiguration of educational landscapes on an international level and international comparisons are in need of research. The first step toward researching the *refiguration of educational landscapes in an international context* will be, as explained below, establishing criteria that define them at a more abstract level. At the same time, from this international perspective, the following *challenges* arise for our investigation.

- 1. We are faced with the challenge of *defining education in an international context*. In this respect, we may be dealing with different contexts in which education plays an important role, but there may be different understandings of education, different debates on education, and different strategic visions of education, while education may also be structured and institutionalized differently at the national level (REICHERTZ, 2021).
- 2. The lowest common denominator we are looking for is a kind of *cooperation* between different actors, different school-related professions. How do these different interests come together, especially with regard to a common pedagogical concept, and what spatial forms do they take?
- 3. The next step, therefore, is to ask how different strategic visions of education materialize spatially in an international context and how they can be traced in cross-cultural research. According to the current state of research, we have already identified international similarities in the way spatial connectivity, accessibility, and transition have been discussed in education and urban planning.
- 4. Following this, we can look for variations and contradictions in the *leitmotifs* (see Section 2.2).
- 5. The challenge here is to empirically reconstruct the *effects of the national* context on the spatial manifestation of education, while at the same time reconstructing the commonalities and coherences or differences between national educational policies. [40]

Again, it proved beneficial to use the refiguration of spaces as a background to understand some of these commonalities and coherences or differences. If the refiguration of spaces is meant as a process-like transformation of spatial arrangements and interdependencies, the development of educational landscapes can be seen as one example that takes on built form, influencing pedagogical concepts and the use and perceptions of space. The central leitmotifs of educational landscapes presented above could also be understood as qualitative characteristics of the refiguration, which are circulating at least nationally. [41]

# 4.2 Reflection on the suitability of methods in the international context and within the framework of a cross-cultural study

To investigate educational landscapes in several countries with very different framework conditions, it was first necessary to embed our project in the context of cross-cultural research. It is worth noting that the terms "cross-cultural" and "intercultural" are often used interchangeably in the literature, but in reality, there are conceptual differences. In line with OTTEN et al. (2009), we can define differences as follows: "Cross-cultural research [and communication] involve[s] comparing behaviour in two or more cultures [...]. Intercultural research [and communication] involve[s] examining behaviour when members of two or more cultures interact" (GUDYKUNST, 2000, p.314, cited in OTTEN et al., 2009, §4). This raises the question of how we can capture the educational debates and different trends in several countries in order to compare them in terms of—in our case—cross-cultural research. What methodological challenges do we face in this context? The particular feature of qualitative methods, which are used both in the survey and in the evaluation, is that they also work for international research since they allow for an open approach. These methods can therefore be applied without particular problems in an intercultural field, although certain qualitative techniques such as interviews and group discussion formats may be unfamiliar or completely foreign to actors in other countries, which must be taken into account in the data collected (REICHERTZ, 2021). The hurdles we face in international research are of a more general nature, such as language barriers, which do not depend primarily on the methods we choose, but rather on the general conditions in an international context. Furthermore, cross-cultural aspects are relevant for the interpretation of the data. Another aspect to consider is the difference between remote interviews and face-to-face interviews. The former pose some challenges in terms of the interviewer-interviewee relationship and the data interpretation, which can be more difficult (GRUBER, EBERL, LIND & BOOMGAARDEN, 2021). This also applies to interviews in Germany in times of COVID-19. [42]

In order to gain access to the research field in various countries, it is necessary to contact local experts in the educational and urban planning sector. As native speakers themselves or with contact to native speakers, they are paramount because the "role of language is fundamental in cross-cultural and intercultural qualitative research" (ANEAS & PAZ SANDÍN, 2009, §40). Native speakers are not only relevant for interviewing the target groups and moderating the group discussions, but also for evaluating the planned procedures with regard to their "adequacy, appropriateness, and consistency in light of the theoretical framework of the qualitative approach" (GATTI & ANDRÉ, 2010, p.48). Hence, it is necessary to train native speakers thoroughly in the methods of qualitative research to be applied, so that they are not only able to apply the methods themselves, but also to assess their appropriateness. In addition, when it comes to narrative maps used to investigate the perspective of users in an internal context-e.g., children and young people-, the low-threshold accessibility of a digital sketching tool (KRÄMER & PEEZ, 2015) also applies to a cross-cultural context. Nevertheless, it is essential to adapt the sketching exercise and

questioning in advance both to a digital format and to the native language of the respondents. [43]

At the same time, it is necessary to work with local actors who are able to support the research process in terms of formal matters, introducing the respondents to the method and digital toll, while also providing technical support or helping with technical problems. If the research design is adequate, the researchers can begin conducting the surveys. Afterward, help is still needed with transcribing the text and translating it into English or into the language shared by the researchers and native experts. This is important to establish a joint basis for the common interpretation of data because such a process "requires an acknowledgment of the complex, multiple, and contradictory identities and realities that shape [...] collective experience" (ANEAS & SANDÍN, 2009, §45). [44]

The same applies to the analysis of documents as a supplement to the group discussions in order to reconstruct international leitbilds. Working with local experts—for example, in a research workshop to analyze the data—makes it possible for us to transfer the gained knowledge, which can be helpful to create "new hypotheses for studying the same problem in similar contexts" (GATTI & ANDRÉ, 2010, pp.49-50). Here, context means understanding and investigating the social phenomenon. Therefore, the meaning of an action or statement, which is defined by the involved social actors themselves, is interpreted by our cultural position and from the point of view of the experts from the corresponding country. This can lead to different interpretations and analyses during the process (ANEAS & SANDÍN, 2009). Using these different perspectives to generate knowledge, reflect on one's own cultural bias, and avoid blind spots is one of the greatest challenges in the evaluation process. EVERS (2009, §31) stated that the "documentary method appears to be especially suitable for preventing possible ethnocentrisms in the interpretation of data in reconstructive research, as well as for precluding concessions with a statistic and normative cultural concept." EVERS justified this via the case comparison in an early interpretation and the detection of the comparative knowledge vis-à-vis the habitus of the researcher. In this context, case refers to the social phenomenon of interest such as individual actors. Even though the documentary method seems suitable for international contexts, NOHL (2017) pointed out that a country comparison could nevertheless be complicated due to the many challenges involved. [45]

# 5. Conclusion: Challenges for Studying the Refiguration of Educational Landscapes Comparatively

The aim of this article was to examine how educational landscapes in Germany and internationally could be studied with regard to the perspectives of users, especially children and young people, as well as the perspectives of professionals in order to investigate the leitbild of an educational landscape in the form of a campus. Therefore, we used narrative maps created by BEHNKEN and ZINNECKER (2013) to explore children and young people's perspective on a campus, which were effective in Germany and on an international scale, combined with observations and interviews. The actor-network theory (ANT) seemed to be a promising approach for this. In addition, we used the documentary method developed by BOHNSACK to study the perspective of professionals through group discussions and observations. For both parts, the perspective of the users and the professionals, several things should be taken into account in an international context, although all methods can be used both in Germany and internationally.

- The basis for all methods is a common spoken language. Hence, we used our contacts to researchers in other countries who could conduct the surveys or help us perform them ourselves.
- However, we would need international research groups not only for collecting data, but for interpreting the data in order to understand the cultural context and draw the right conclusions.
- Particularly with regard to leitbilds, we may find major differences between Germany and other countries. Educational landscapes in the form of a campus are a very specific approach in Germany, combining a variety of participating institutions, different forms of organizational cooperation, pedagogical and urban planning and design aspects in the main concept, and socio-spatial relations. We would expect that only some of these variables would be present in an international context, even if we see similar (spatial) demands for educational landscapes at an international level in the programmatic terms, such as low-threshold accessibility and transitions between the campus and the community, as well as the involvement of the neighborhood. [46]

COVID-19 has also posed some specific challenges, for example, in terms of virtual media. So far, this has not been considered in the debate or programming surrounding educational landscapes. Thanks to *digitization*, we can also access subjects to which we did not have had access before. This applies, for example, to creating digital narrative maps and conducting interviews without having to be on site. Nevertheless, we need partners who can grant us access to participants in other countries. [47]

At the same time, COVID-19 has been leading to several problems in our actual research because we could not really research the use of space. The young people we have been interviewing have not and will not been able to use the

space themselves without restrictions for a long time, which can change the research results and must be taken into account in the evaluation. In light of the cross-cultural research challenges we discussed before, it is essential that our research also harness the momentum offered by the refiguration of educational landscapes sparked by the COVID-19 pandemic. The political debate regarding COVID-19 in Germany has been dominated by several different issues, including the question of how and when schools (not only educational landscapes) will reopen as specific places where knowledge and skills are acquired in the knowledge society. These discussions tend to treat educational institutions as individual providers rather than as a network. For example, some have suggested that schools should be reopened gradually, but most people do not expect normal (though possibly quite different) teaching to resume in schools before 2022. Although national and international educational landscapes have been developed in recent years as places of learning and living within the framework of all-day schooling and neighborhood and city development, it seems that this development is being slowed down, at times even pushed backward, by health precautions and the self-concentration of educational institutions on their own functioning within their own buildings and adjacent courtyards (rather than attempting to cooperate with others and take advantage of the spatial context) (MILLION 2021b). Outdoor space is being divided up and sectioned off with new boundaries to set distances and define patterns of interaction. It will indeed be interesting to see how educational landscapes are mediated and redefined after this pandemic period, which will almost certainly make cross-cultural studies in the field even more challenging. [48]

#### **Acknowledgments**

This article reflects the findings of the research project "Der Campus als Leitbild und Praxis in Lokalen Bildungslandschaften" [Campus as Guiding Principle and Practice in Local Educational Landscapes], funded by the DFG (2019-2022, project number <u>386260334</u>). The basis for our current research was the joint interdisciplinary research project "Lokale Bildungslandschaften und Stadtentwicklung. Schnittstellen und Verflechtungen" [Local Educational Landscapes and Urban Development: Interfaces and Interconnections] (2013-2019, project number <u>251337200</u>), led by educational researcher Thomas COELEN (University of Siegen), together with Christine LOTH and Ivanka SOMBORSKI, as well as city planner and urban designer Angela MILLION (Technische Universität Berlin) with Anna Juliane HEINRICH and financed by the DFG. We would like to thank Marina BILJAN and Zoya SOLOVIEVA for their support with the content and format. We are especially grateful to Anna Juliane HEINRICH, who played a major role in the conception of the project described here. Zachary MÜHLENWEG did additional language-editing. Vanessa ULOTH did copy-editing.

#### References

Abel, Jörg (2000). Netzwerke und Leitbilder: Die Bedeutung von Leitbildern für die Funktionsfähigkeit von Forschungs- und Entwicklungs-Netzwerken. In Johannes Weyer (Ed.), Soziale Netzwerke: Konzepte und Methoden der sozialwissenschaftlichen Netzwerkforschung (pp.161-185). München: Oldenbourg.

Ackel-Eisnach, Kristina & Müller, Caroline (2012). Perspektiven-, Methoden- und Datentriangulation bei der Evaluation einer kommunalen Bildungslandschaft. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Sozial Research, 13*(3), Art. 5, <a href="https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-13.3.1720">https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-13.3.1720</a> [Accessed: August 20, 2021].

Altrock, Uwe (2005). Stadtumbau in schrumpfenden Städten – Anzeichen für ein neues Governance-Modell?. In Uwe Altrock, Ronald Kunze, Dirk Schubert & Ursula von Petz (Eds.), *Jahrbuch Stadterneuerung 2004/2005* (pp.155-176). Berlin: Universitätsverlag der TU Berlin.

Andersson, Björn; Reutlinger, Christian; Roth, Patricia & Zimmermann, Domenic (2019). Young people's appropriation of public space: Participation through voice, sociability and activity. In Andreas Walther, Janet Batsleer, Patricia Loncle & Axel Pohl (Eds.), Young people and the struggle for participation: Contested practices, power and pedagogies in public spaces (pp.82-96). London: Routledge.

André, Isabel; Carmo, André; Abreu, Alexandre; Estevens, Ana & Malheiros, Jorge (2012). Learning for and from the city: the role of education in urban social cohesion. *Belgeo. Revue Belge de Géographie*, 4, <a href="https://doi.org/10.4000/belgeo.8587">https://doi.org/10.4000/belgeo.8587</a> [Accessed: January 1, 2021].

Aneas, María Assumpta & Sandín, María Paz (2009). Intercultural and cross-cultural communication research: Some reflections about culture and qualitative methods. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Sozial Research, 10*(1), Art. 51, <a href="https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-10.1.1251">https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-10.1.1251</a> [Accessed: June 16, 2020].

Aring, Jürgen & Sinz, Manfred (2006). Neue Leitbilder der Raumentwicklung in Deutschland: Modernisierung der Raumordnungspolitik im Diskurs. *disP—The Planning Review*, *42*(165), 43-60.

Baur, Nina; Herring, Linda; Raschke, Anna L. & Thierbach, Cornelia (2014). Theory and methods in spatial analysis: towards integrating qualitative, quantitative and cartographic approaches in the social sciences and humanities. *Historical Social Research*, *39*(2), 7-50, <a href="https://doi.org/10.12759/hsr.39.2014.2.7-50">https://doi.org/10.12759/hsr.39.2014.2.7-50</a> [Accessed: January 1, 2021].

Behnken, Imbke & Zinnecker, Jürgen (2013). Narrative Landkarten: Ein Verfahren zur Rekonstruktion aktueller und biographisch erinnerter Lebensräume. In Barbara Friebertshäuser, Antje Langer & Annedore Prengel (Eds.), *Handbuch qualitative Forschungsmethoden in der Erziehungswissenschaft* (pp.547-562). Weinheim: Beltz Juventa.

Beltrán, Rodríguez M. (2012). Educación y ciudad: La educación como elemento clave del desarrollo estratégico territorial [Education and the city: Education as a key element of territorial strategic development]. Forum Aragón: revista digital de FEAE-Aragón sobre organización y gestión educative, 20(6), 51-54, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1344/sn2016.20.15794">https://doi.org/10.1344/sn2016.20.15794</a> [Accessed: June 21, 2021].

Berking, Helmuth & Löw, Martina (Eds.) (2008). Die Eigenlogik der Städte: Neue Wege für die Stadtentwicklung. Frankfurt/M.: Campus.

Blackmore, Jill; Bateman, Debra; Cloonan, Anne; Dixon, Mary; Loughlin, Jill; O'Mara, Jo & Senior, Kim (2011). *Innovative learning environments research study*. Geelong: Deakin University, <a href="http://www.learningspaces.edu.au/docs/learningspaces-final-report.pdf">http://www.learningspaces.edu.au/docs/learningspaces-final-report.pdf</a> [Accessed: May 7, 2020].

Bleckmann, Peter & Durdel, Anja (2009). Einführung: Lokale Bildungslandschaften – die zweifache Öffnung. In Peter Bleckmann & Anja Durdel (Eds.), Lokale Bildungslandschaften. Perspektiven für Ganztagsschulen und Kommunen (pp.1-16). Wiesbaden: VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.

Böhme, Jeanette (Ed.) (2009). Schularchitektur im interdisziplinären Diskurs. Wiesbaden: VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.

<u>Bohnsack, Ralf</u> (2003). Die dokumentarische Methode und sozialwissenschaftliche Hermeneutik. *Zeitschrift für Erziehungswissenschaft*, 6(4), 550-570.

Bohnsack, Ralf (2010). Documentary method and group discussions. In Ralf Bohnsack, Nicolle Pfaff & Wivian Weller (Eds.), *Qualitative analysis and documentary method in international educational research* (pp.99-124). Opladen: Barbara Budrich, <a href="https://nbn-resolving.org/urn:nbn:de:0168-ssoar-317253">https://nbn-resolving.org/urn:nbn:de:0168-ssoar-317253</a> [Accessed: June 21, 2021].

Bohnsack, Ralf; Nentwig-Gesemann, Iris & Nohl, Arnd-Michael (2013). *Die dokumentarische Methode und ihre Forschungspraxis. Grundlagen qualitativer Sozialforschung.* Wiesbaden: Springer VS.

Bohnsack, Ralf; Pfaff, Nicolle & Weller, Wivian (Eds.) (2010). *Qualitative analysis and documentary method in international educational research*. Opladen: Barbara Budrich, <a href="https://www.pedocs.de/volltexte/2020/18255/pdf/Bohnsack\_Pfaff\_Weller\_2010\_Qualitative\_Analysis\_and\_Documentary\_Method.pdf">https://www.pedocs.de/volltexte/2020/18255/pdf/Bohnsack\_Pfaff\_Weller\_2010\_Qualitative\_Analysis\_and\_Documentary\_Method.pdf</a> [Accessed: June 21, 2021].

Bollweg, Petra & Otto, Hans-Uwe (Eds.) (2011). *Räume flexibler Bildung: Bildungslandschaft in der Diskussion*. Wiesbaden: VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.

Bundesministerium für Familie, Senioren, Frauen und Jugend (BMFSFJ) (Ed.) (2005). Zwölfter Kinder- und Jugendbericht. Bericht über die Lebenssituation junger Menschen und die Leistungen der Kinder- und Jugendhilfe in Deutschland. Berlin: BMFSFJ, <a href="https://www.bmfsfj.de/resource/blob/112224/7376e6055bbcaf822ec30fc6ff72b287/12-kinder-und-jugendbericht-data.pdf">https://www.bmfsfj.de/resource/blob/112224/7376e6055bbcaf822ec30fc6ff72b287/12-kinder-und-jugendbericht-data.pdf</a> [Accessed: June 21, 2021].

Callon, Michael (2006). Einige Elemente einer Soziologie der Übersetzung: Die Domestikation der Kammmuscheln und der Fischer der St. Brieuc-Bucht. In Andréa Belliger & David Krieger (Eds.), ANThology: Ein einführendes Handbuch zur Akteur-Netzwerk-Theorie (pp.135-175). Bielefeld: transcript.

Castillo Ulloa, Ignacio; Million, Angela & Schwerer, Jona (2021/in print). "I spy with my little eye": Children's actual use and experts intended design of public space. In Angela Million, Christian Haid, Ignacio Castillo Ulloa & Nina Baur (Eds.), Spatial transformations: Kaleidoscopic perspectives on the refiguration of spaces. New York, NY: Routledge.

Chiles, Prue (2015). Perspectives on new school building. In Prue Chiles (Ed.), *Building schools:* Key issues for contemporary design (pp.8-23), Basel: Birkhäuser.

Coelen, Thomas (2002). Kommunale Jugendbildung: Raumbezogene Identitätsbildung zwischen Schule und Jugendarbeit. Frankfurt/M: Lang.

Coelen, Thomas & Stecher, Ludwig (Eds.) (2014). *Die Ganztagsschule: Eine Einführung*. Weinheim: Beltz Juventa.

Coelen, Thomas; Heinrich, Anna J. & Million, Angela (Eds.) (2015). *Stadtbaustein Bildung*. Wiesbaden: Springer VS.

Coelen, Thomas; Heinrich, Anna J. & Million, Angela (2019). Local educational landscapes in Germany: Interfaces and interlacings between education and urban development. In Holger Jahnke, Caroline Kramer & Peter Meusburger (Eds.), *Geographies of schooling: Knowledge and space* (Vol.14, pp.35-53). Cham: Springer.

Cummings, Colleen (2011). Beyond the school gates: Questioning the extended schools and full service agendas. Milton Park: Routledge.

Curdes, Gerhard (1997 [1993]). Stadtstruktur und Stadtgestaltung. Stuttgart: Kohlhammer.

Dangschat, Jens S. & Kogler, Raphaela (2019 [2014]). Qualitative räumliche Daten. In Nina Baur & Jörg Blasius (Eds.), *Handbuch Methoden der empirischen Sozialforschung* (pp.1337-1344). Wiesbaden: Springer VS.

Daum, Egbert (2014). Subjektives Kartographieren: Kinder und Jugendliche visualisieren ihre Weltaneignungen. In Ulrich Deinet & Christian Reutlinger (Eds.), *Tätigkeit – Aneignung – Bildung: Positionierungen zwischen Virtualität und Gegenständlichkeit* (pp.189-201). Wiesbaden: Springer VS

De Visscher, Sven; Bouverne-De Bie, Maria & Verschelden, Griet (2012). Urban public space and the construction of social life: A social-pedagogical perspective. *International Journal of Lifelong Education*, *31*(1), 97-110.

Deinet, Ulrich & Reutlinger, Christian (Eds.) (2014). Tätigkeit – Aneignung – Bildung: Positionierungen zwischen Virtualität und Gegenständlichkeit. Wiesbaden: Springer VS.

Delitz, Heike (2009). Gebaute Gesellschaft. Architektur als Medium des Sozialen. Frankfurt/M.: Campus.

Derecik, Ahmet (2015). Sozialräumliche Aneignung von Räumen durch Jugendliche: Theoretische Grundlagen und beanspruchte Raumtypen in öffentlichen Räumen. In Jan Erhorn & Jürgen Schwier (Eds.), *Die Eroberung urbaner Bewegungsräume: SportBündnisse für Kinder und Jugendliche* (pp.13-29). Bielefeld: transcript.

Deutscher Städtetag (2007). Aachener Erklärung des Deutschen Städtetages anlässlich des Kongresses "Bildung in der Stadt" am 22./23. November 2007, <a href="https://www.staedtetag.de/files/dst/docs/Dezernat-3/Archiv/aachener-erklaerung-2007.pdf">https://www.staedtetag.de/files/dst/docs/Dezernat-3/Archiv/aachener-erklaerung-2007.pdf</a> [Accessed: August 17, 2021].

Deutscher Städtetag (2012). Bildung gemeinsam verantworten: Münchner Erklärung des Deutschen Städtetages anlässlich des Kongresses "Bildung gemeinsam verantworten" am 8./9. November 2012, <a href="https://www.staedtetag.de/files/dst/docs/Dezernat-3/Archiv/muenchner-erklaerung-2012.pdf">https://www.staedtetag.de/files/dst/docs/Dezernat-3/Archiv/muenchner-erklaerung-2012.pdf</a> [Accessed: August 17, 2021].

Dierkes, Meinolf (Ed.) (1997). *Technikgenese: Befunde aus einem Forschungsprogramm*. Berlin: edition sigma.

Dirks, Sebastian (2016). Die Forschungsperspektive: Eine raum(re)produktionstheoretische Grundlegung. In Sebastian Dirks, Fabian Kessl, Maike Lippelt & Carmen Wienand (Eds.), *Urbane Raum(re)produktion – Soziale Arbeit macht Stadt* (pp.19-51). Münster: Westfälisches Dampfboot.

Dirks, Sebastian & Kessl, Fabian (2012). Räumlichkeit in Erziehungs- und Bildungsverhältnissen. In Ullrich Bauer (Ed.), *Handbuch Bildungs- und Erziehungssoziologie* (pp.507-525). Wiesbaden: Springer VS.

Downs, Roger M. (1985). The representation of space: its development in children and in cartography. In Ruth Cohen (Ed.), *The development of spatial cognition* (pp.223-346). Hillsdale, MI: Lawrence Erlbaum.

Dyson, Alan (2011). Full service and extended schools, disadvantage, and social justice. *Cambridge Journal of Education*, 41(2), 177-193.

Engeström, Yrjö (2014 [2010]). Activity theory and learning at work. In Ulrich Deinet & Christian Reutlinger (Eds.), *Tätigkeit, Aneignung, Bildung: Positionierungen zwischen Virtualität und Gegenständlichkeit* (pp.67-96). Wiesbaden: Springer VS.

Evers, Henrike (2009). The documentary method in intercultural research scenarios. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Sozial Research, 10*(1), Art.47, <a href="https://doi.org/10.17169/fgs-10.1.1245">https://doi.org/10.17169/fgs-10.1.1245</a> [Accessed: June 16, 2020].

Färber, Alexa (2014). Potenziale freisetzen: Akteur-Netzwerk-Theorie und Assemblageforschung in der interdisziplinären kritischen Stadtforschung. Sub\Urban. Zeitschrift für Kritische Stadtforschung, 2(1), 95-103, https://doi.org/10.36900/suburban.v2i1.109 [Accessed: June 21, 2021].

Farías, Ignacio & Bender, Thomas (Eds.) (2010). *Urban assemblages, How actor-network theory changes urban studies*. London: Routledge.

Friebertshäuser, Barbara & Panagiotopoulou, Argyro (2013). Ethnographische Feldforschung. In Barbara Friebertshäuser & Annedore Prengel (Eds.), *Handbuch Qualitative Forschungsmethoden in der Erziehungswissenschaft* (pp.303-322). Weinheim: Beltz Juventa.

Fritsche, Caroline; Rahn, Peter & Reutlinger, Christian (2011). *Quartier macht Schule: Die Perspektive der Kinder* (Vol. 5). Wiesbaden: VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.

Fritsche, Caroline; Günnewig, Nadine; Kessl, Fabian & Reutlinger, Christian (2013). Handlungsund Spielräume der Kinder und Jugendlichen: Die Bewältigungsmuster der PlatznutzerInnen. In Fabian Kessl & Christian Reutlinger (Eds.), *Urbane Spielräume: Bildung und Stadtentwicklung* (pp.59-99). Wiesbaden: Springer VS.

Froschauer, Ulrike (2009). Artefaktanalyse. In Stefan Kühl, Petra Strodtholz & Andreas Taffertshofer (Eds.), *Handbuch Methoden der Organisationsforschung* (pp.326-347). Wiesbaden: VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.

Gatti, Bernadete A. & André, Marli (2010). The relevance of qualitative research methods in education in Brazil. In Ralf Bohnsack, Nicolle Pfaff & Wivian Weller (Eds.), *Qualitative analysis and documentary method in international educational research* (pp.41-51). Opladen: Barbara Budrich, <a href="https://nbn-resolving.org/urn:nbn:de:0168-ssoar-317253">https://nbn-resolving.org/urn:nbn:de:0168-ssoar-317253</a> [Accessed: June 21, 2021].

Gehl, Jan (1987). *Life between buildings: Using public space*. New York, NY: Van Nostrand Reinhold.

Giesel, Katharina D. (2007). *Leitbilder in den Sozialwissenschaften: Begriffe, Theorien und Forschungskonzepte*. Wiesbaden: VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.

Goldschmidt, Jürgen & Taubenek, Olaf (2010). Stadtumbau: Rechtsfragen, Management, Finanzierung. München: Beck.

Gothe, Kerstin & Pfadenhauer, Michaela (2010). *My campus – Räume für die "Wissensgesellschaft"? Raumnutzungsmuster von Studierenden*. Wiesbaden: VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.

Gräbel, Thomas; Wüstenrot Stiftung & Studio für Urbane Landschaften (2015). *Unterwegs in deutschen Bildungslandschaften*. Ludwigsburg: Wüstenrot Stiftung.

Gruber, Maria; Eberl, Jakob M.; Lind, Fabienne & Boomgaarden Hajo G. (2021). Qualitative interviews with irregular migrants in times of COVID-19: Recourse to remote interview techniques as a possible methodological adjustment. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Sozial Research*, 22(1), Art. 7, <a href="https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-22.1.3563">https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-22.1.3563</a> [Accessed: August 20, 2021].

Gudykunst, William B. (2000). Methodological issues in conducting theory-based cross-cultural research. In Helen Spencer-Oatey (Ed.), *Culturally speaking. Managing rapport through talk accross cultures* (pp.293-315). London: Continuum

Gülgönen, Tuline & Corona, Yolanda (2015). Children's perspectives on their urban environment and their appropriation of public spaces in Mexico City. *Children, Youth and Environments*, 25(2), 208-228, <a href="https://doi.org/10.7721/chilyoutenvi.25.2.0208">https://doi.org/10.7721/chilyoutenvi.25.2.0208</a> [Accessed: June 21, 2021].

Halfmann, Christina & Metz, Stefan (2007). Bericht der Wissenschaftlichen. In Wüstenrot Stiftung (Ed.), Schule bauen – Bauen schult! Wissenschaftliche Begleitforschung zu einem Modellprogramm des Landes Rheinland-Pfalz (pp.43-160). Ludwigsburg: Wüstenrot Stiftung.

Hasse, Jürgen (2015). Was Räume mit uns machen – und wir mit ihnen: Kritische Phänomenologie des Raumes. Freiburg: Alber.

Heinrich, Anna J. (2013). *Umbau schrumpfender Städte – Identifizierung von Spielräumen für Urban Governance in ostdeutschen Mittelstädten*. Essen: Klartext.

Herlyn, Ulfert; von Seggern, Hille; Heinzelmann, Claudia & Karow, Daniela (2003). *Jugendliche in öffentlichen Räumen der Stadt: Chancen und Restriktionen der Raumaneignung*. Opladen: Leske + Budrich.

Höhne, Stefan & Umlauf, Rene (2014). Die Akteur-Netzwerk Theorie: Zur Vernetzung und Entgrenzung des Sozialen. In Jürgen Oßenbrügge & Anne Vogelpohl (Eds.), *Theorien in der Raum- und Stadtforschung: Einführungen* (pp.195-214). Münster: Westfälisches Dampfboot.

Holzkamp, Klaus & Schurig, Volker (1973). Zur Einführung in A.N. Leontjews "Probleme der Entwicklung des Psychischen". In Alexei Nikolajewitsch Leontjew (Hrsg.), *Probleme der Entwicklung des Psychischen* (pp.11-52). Frankfurt/M.: Athenäum.

Jessen, Johann (2005). Leitbilder der Stadtentwicklung. In Akademie für Raumforschung und Landesplanung (Ed.), *Handwörterbuch der Raumordnung* (pp.602-608). Hannover: Akademie für Raumforschung und Landesplanung.

Kemp, Claire (2015). Schools and the community. In Prue Chiles (Ed.), *Building schools: Key issues for contemporary design* (pp.90-107). Basel: Birkhäuser.

Kessl, Fabian (2016). Erziehungswissenschaftliche Forschung zu Raum und Räumlichkeit: Eine Verortung des Thementeils "Raum und Räumlichkeit in der erziehungswissenschaftlichen Forschung". Zeitschrift für Pädagogik, 62(1), 5-19,

https://www.pedocs.de/volltexte/2019/16702/pdf/ZfPaed\_2016\_1\_Kessl\_Erziehungswissenschaftliche\_Forschung.pdf [Accessed: June 21, 2021].

Kessl, Fabian & Reutlinger, Christian (Eds.) (2012). *Urbane Spielräume: Bildung und Stadtentwicklung*. Wiesbaden: Springer VS.

Klika, Dorle (2012). Der Schulhof als Lebens- und Erfahrungsraum: Ort der Widersprüche, der Freude, des Schmerzes. In Hildegart Schröteler-von Brandt, Thomas Coelen, Andreas Zeising & Angela Ziesche (Eds.), Raum für Bildung: Ästhetik und Architektur von Lern- und Lebensorten (pp.245-253). Bielefeld: transcript.

Knieling, Jörg (2006). Leitbilder und strategische Raumentwicklung: Planungstheoretische Einordnung und Diskussion der neuen Leitbilder für die deutsche Raumentwicklung. *Raumforschung und Raumordnung*, *64*(6), 473-485, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03183113">https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03183113</a> [Accessed: June 21, 2021].

<u>Knoblauch, Hubert</u> & Löw, Martina (2020). The re-figuration of spaces and refigured modernity—concept and diagnosis. *Historical Social Research*, *45*(2), 263-292, <a href="https://doi.org/10.12759/hsr.45.2020.2.263-292">https://doi.org/10.12759/hsr.45.2020.2.263-292</a> [Accessed: September 1, 2021].

Krämer, Andreas & Peez, Georg (2015). Spuren, Muster und Markierungen. Fallforschung zu grafischen Äußerungen eines Sechsjährigen mit dem Smartphone. *BDK-Mitteilungen*, *4*, 28-31.

Kuder, Thomas (2004). *Nicht ohne: Leitbilder in Städtebau und Planung: Von der Funktionstrennung zur Nutzungsmischung.* Berlin: Leue.

Lamnek, Siegfried & Krell, Claudia (2016 [1988/1989]). *Qualitative Sozialforschung*. Weinheim: Beltz

Latour, Bruno (2006). Die Soziologie eines Akteur-Netzwerkes: Der Fall des Elektrofahrzeugs. In Andrea Belliger & David J. Krieger (Eds.), *ANThology: Ein einführendes Handbuch zur Akteur-Netzwerk-Theorie* (pp.175-193). Bielefeld: transcript.

Latour, Bruno & Yaneva, Albena (2008). Give me a gun and I will make all buildings move: An ANT's view of architecture. In Reto Geiser (Ed.), *Explorations in architecture: Teaching, design, research* (pp.80-89). Basel: Birkhäuser.

Le Dé, Loïc; Gaillard, Jean-Christophe; Gampell, Anthony; Loodin, Nickola & Cadag, Jake (2020). Participatory mapping 2.0: New ways for children's participation in disaster risk reduction. *Australian Journal of Emergency Management*, *35*(2), 34-42, <a href="https://knowledge.aidr.org.au/media/7672/ajem\_12\_2020-04.pdf">https://knowledge.aidr.org.au/media/7672/ajem\_12\_2020-04.pdf</a> [Accessed: August, 30, 2021].

Lenzen, Dieter (2001). Leitbilder – Bilderleid? Was dürfen wir von Leitbild-Debatten an deutschen Hochschulen erwarten?. Forschung & Lehre, 8(11), 586-589.

Leontjew, Alexei Nikolajewitsch (1964 [1959]). *Probleme der Entwicklung des Psychischen*. Berlin: Volk und Wissen.

Libbe, Jens; Köhler, Hadia & Beckmann, Klaus J. (2010). *Infrastruktur und Stadtentwicklung: Technische und soziale Infrastrukturen – Herausforderungen und Handlungsoptionen für Infrastruktur- und Stadtplanung*. Berlin: Deutsches Institut für Urbanistik.

Lisowski, Rainer; Meyer, Clas; Schmidt, Matthias; Spitzer-Ewersmann, Claus & Wesselmann, Stefanie (2011). *Wissensbasierte Stadtentwicklung: 16 Beispiele aus der Praxis*. Essen: Stifterverband für die Deutsche Wissenschaft, <a href="https://www.stifterverband.org/download/file/fid/223">https://www.stifterverband.org/download/file/fid/223</a> [Accessed: June 22, 2021].

Löw, Martina (2001). Raumsoziologie. Frankfurt/M.: Suhrkamp.

Löw, Martina (2018). Vom Raum aus die Stadt denken: Grundlagen einer raumtheoretischen Stadtsoziologie. Bielefeld: transcript.

Löw, Martina & Geier, Thomas (2014). Einführung in die Soziologie der Bildung und Erziehung. Opladen: Barbara Budrich.

Løndal, Knut; Norbeck, Karoline B. & Thorén, Anne-Karine. H. (2015). How does a manmade outdoor area in a large, urban kindergarten afford physical activity to 5-year-old children? *Children, Youth and Environments*, 25(2), 128-152.

Lúcio, Joana (2015). Wahrnehmung und Aneignung des städtischen Lebens- und Bildungsraums durch junge Menschen. In Thomas Coelen, Anna J. Heinrich & Angela Million (Eds.), *Stadtbaustein Bildung* (pp.181-190). Wiesbaden: Springer VS.

Lueger, Manfred (2000). Artefaktanalyse. In Manfred Lueger (Ed.), *Grundlagen qualitativer Feldforschung* (pp.140-163186). Wien: utb.

Mandel, Schewa (2006). Wirksamkeit der Leitbilder von Schweizer Gymnasien: Das Leitbild als Mittel der Qualitätssicherung, Qualitätsentwicklung und Qualitätsevaluation. Bern: Peter Lang.

Mattern, Philipp & Linder, Matthias (2015). Warum Bildungslandschaften? Einige Überlegungen zu Form und Funktion einer eigenartigen Figur. *Wiedersprüche*, *135*(35), 81-95, <a href="https://nbn-resolving.org/urn:nbn:de:0168-ssoar-55613-3">https://nbn-resolving.org/urn:nbn:de:0168-ssoar-55613-3</a> [Accessed: June 22, 2021].

Million, Angela (2021a). Mental Maps und narrative Landkarten. In Anna J. Heinrich, Séverine Marguin, Angela Million & Jörg Stollmann (Eds.), *Handbuch qualitative und visuelle Methoden der Raumforschung* (pp.293-308). Bielefeld: utb.

Million, Angela (2021b). "No one listens to us ...". COVID-19 and its socio-spatial impact on children and young people in Germany. *Children's Geographies*, *19*, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/14733285.2021.1908520">https://doi.org/10.1080/14733285.2021.1908520</a> [Accessed: September 17, 2021].

Million, Angela; Coelen, Thomas; Heinrich, Anne J.; Loth, Christine & Somborski, Ivanka (2017). *Gebaute Bildungslandschaften: Verflechtungen zwischen Pädagogik und Stadtplanung*. Berlin: Jovis.

Montag Stiftung Jugend und Gesellschaft & Montag Stiftung Urbane Räume (Eds.) (2012). Schulen planen und bauen. Grundlagen und Prozesse. Berlin: Jovis.

Nohl, Arnd-Michael (2011). Pädagogik der Dinge. Bad Heilbrunn: Klinkhardt.

Nohl, Arnd-Michael (2017). Country comparison and multi-level analysis in qualitative research. Methodological problems and practical solutions. *Child Indicators Research: The Official Journal of the International Society for Child Indicators*, 12(2), 409-423.

Nohl, Arnd-Michael & Wulf, Christoph (2013). Die Materialität pädagogischer Prozesse zwischen Mensch und Ding. Zeitschrift für Erziehungswissenschaft, 16, 1-13.

Nugel, Martin (2014). Erziehungswissenschaftliche Diskurse über Räume der Pädagogik: Eine kritische Analyse. Wiesbaden: Springer VS.

Opp, Günther (2010). Lebensraum Schule Raumkonzepte planen, gestalten, entwickeln. Stuttgart: Fraunhofer IRB-Verlag.

Otten, Matthias; Allwood, Jens; Aneas, Maria A.; Busch, Dominic; Hoffman, David M. & Schweisfurth, Michele (2009). Editorial: Qualitative research and intercultural communication. Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 10(1), Art. 34, <a href="https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-10.1.1248">https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-10.1.1248</a> [Accessed: June 16, 2020].

Peschl, Markus F. & Fundneider, Thomas (2012). Räume bilden Wissen: Kognitive und epistemologische Grundlagen der Ermöglichung von Wissensgenerierung in Enabling Spaces. In Hildegard Schröteler-von Brandt, Thomas Coelen, Andreas Zeising & Angela Ziesche (Eds.), *Raum für Bildung: Ästhetik und Architektur von Lern- und Lebensorten* (pp.73-80). Bielefeld: transcript.

Philipp, Elmar & Rolff, Hans-Günter (1998). Schulprogramme und Leitbilder entwickeln: Ein Arbeitsbuch. Weinheim: Beltz.

Pineda, Andres V. (2010). How do we co-produce urban transport systems and the city? The case of Transmilenio and Bogotá. In Ignacio Farías & Thomas Bender (Eds.), *Urban assemblages. How actor-network theory changes urban studies* (pp.123-138). London: Routledge.

Priem, Karin; König, Gudrun M. & Casale, Rita (2012). Die Materialität der Erziehung: Kulturelle und soziale Aspekte pädagogischer Objekte: Einleitung zum Beiheft. In Karin Priem, Gudrun M. König & Rita Casale (Eds.), *Die Materialität der Erziehung: Kulturelle und soziale Aspekte pädagogischer Objekte* (pp.7-13). Weinheim: Beltz,

https://www.pedocs.de/volltexte/2013/7194/pdf/Priem\_Koenig\_Casale\_Materialitaet\_der\_Erziehung\_Gesamt.pdf [Accessed: September 7, 2021].

Regenthal, Gerhard (1999). Corporate Identity in Schulen. Management, Motivation und Marketing für die Selbstgestaltung von Schulen. Neuwied: Luchterhand.

Reicher, Christa (2017 [2012]). Städtebauliches Entwerfen. Wiesbaden: Springer Vieweg.

Reichertz, Jo (2021). Limits of interpretation or interpretation at the limits: Perspectives from hermeneutics on the re-figuration of space and cross-cultural comparison. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 22(2), Art. 18., <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-22.2.3737">http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-22.2.3737</a> [Accessed: May 29, 2021].

Reutlinger, Christian (2003). Jugend, Stadt und Raum: Sozialgeographische Grundlagen einer Sozialpädagogik des Jugendalters. Opladen: Leske + Budrich.

Reutlinger, Christian (2011). Bildungsort, Bildungsräume und Bildungslandschaften im Spiegel von Ungleichheit – Kritischer Blick auf das "Räumeln" imBildungsdiskurs. In Petra Bollweg & Hans-Uwe Otto (Eds.), *Räume flexibler Bildung: Bildungslandschaft in der Diskussion* (pp.51-69). Wiesbaden: VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.

Schäfers, Bernhard & Köhler, Gabriele (1989). Leitbilder der Stadtentwicklung: Wandel und jetzige Bedeutung im Expertenurteil. Pfaffenweiler: Centaurus.

Smith, Mark K. (2010 [1996]). Community schools and community schooling. *The Encylopaedia of Informal Education*, <a href="https://infed.org/mobi/community-schools-and-community-schooling/">https://infed.org/mobi/community-schools-and-community-schooling/</a> [Accessed: May 17, 2020].

Speck, Karsten; Olk, Thomas; Böhm-Kasper, Oliver; Stolz, Heinz-Jürgen & Wiezorek, Christine (Eds.) (2011). *Ganztagsschulische Kooperation und Professionsentwicklung: Studien zu multiprofessionellen Teams und sozialräumlicher Vernetzung*. Weinheim: Juventa.

Spengemann, Karl-Ludwig (1993). Architektur wahrnehmen. Bielefeld: Kerber.

Spiekermann, Klaus (2000). Räumliche Leitbilder in der kommunalen Planungspraxis. *Archiv für Kommunalwissenschaften*, 39(2), 289-311.

Steets, Silke (2015). Der sinnhafte Aufbau der gebauten Welt: Eine Architektursoziologie. Frankfurt/M.: Suhrkamp.

Streich, Bernd (1988). *Grundzüge einer städtebaulichen Leitbildtheorie*. Bonn: Beiträge zu Städtebau und Bodenordnung.

Tervooren, Anja; Engel, Nicolas; Göhlich, Michael; Miethe, Ingrid & Reh, Sabine (Eds.) (2014). Ethnographie und Differenz in pädagogischen Feldern: Internationale Entwicklungen erziehungswissenschaftlicher Forschung. Bielefeld: transcript.

Tse, Hau M.; Learoyd-Smith, Susannah; Stables, Andrew & Daniels, Harry (2014). Continuity and conflict in school design: A case study from building schools for the future. *Intelligent Buildings International*, 7(2-3), 64-82.

Uttke, Angela (2012). Towards the future design and development of cities with built environment education: Experiences of scale, methods, and outcomes. *Procedia—Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 45, 3-13, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2012.06.537">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2012.06.537</a> [Accessed: January 1, 2021].

Vincent, Jeffrey M. (2006). Public schools as public infrastructure: Roles for planning researchers. *Journal of Planning Education and Research*, 25(4), 433-437.

Von Seggern, Hille & Studio für Urbane Landschaften (2009). Stadtsurfer, Quartierfans & Co: Stadtkonstruktionen Jugendlicher und das Netz urbaner öffentlicher Räume. Berlin: Jovis.

Watschinger, Josef & Kühebacher, Josef (2007). Schularchitektur und neue Lernkultur: Neues Lernen – Neue Räume. Bern: hep.

Wolter, Birgit (2011). Aneignung und Verlust des städtischen Raums im Alter. In Malte Bergmann & Bastian Lange (Eds.), *Eigensinnige Geographien: Städtische Raumaneignung als Ausdruck gesellschaftlicher Teilhabe* (pp.195-211). Wiesbaden: VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.

Zinke, Christine; Klepp, Sarah & Biljan, Marina (forthcoming). Die Erforschung von Bildungslandschaften in Campusform. In Heike Gumz & Werner Thole (Eds.), *Bildung in lokalen Räumen – Empirische Befunde, theoretische Rahmungen, politische Herausforderungen*. Wiesbaden: Springer VS.

#### Authors

Thomas COELEN is dean of the Faculty of Education-Architecture-Arts and a professor for educational studies with a specialization in socialization, youth education, and life course research at the University of Siegen. Together with Angela MILLION, he has headed the research project "Campus as Guiding Principle and Practice in Local Educational Landscapes," funded by the DFG. In his research, he focuses on cooperation between youth welfare organizations and schools, all-day schooling, educational landscapes, and pedagogical architecture.

Sarah KLEPP graduated in cultural studies (European University Viadrina Frankfurt/Oder) and historical urban studies (Technische Universität Berlin) and has been a researcher at the Chair of Urban Design and Urban Development, Institute for Urban and Regional Planning (ISR) at Technische Universität Berlin, since 2018. Since January 2019, she has been involved in the research project "Campus as Guiding Principle and Practice in Local Educational Landscapes," funded by the DFG. She explores the interface between education and urban space and is currently writing her dissertation on the development and function of local educational landscapes.

Contact:

Prof. Dr. Thomas Coelen

Universität Siegen Faculty II (Education-Architecture-Arts) Department Educational Studies-Psychology Adolf-Reichwein-Straße 2a, 57068 Siegen, Germany

Tel.: +49 271 740-4389

E-mail: thomas.coelen@uni-siegen.de URL: https://www.bildung.unisiegen.de/mitarbeiter/t\_coelen

Contact:

Sarah Klepp, M.A.

Technische Universität Berlin Faculty VI-Planning Building Environment Institute for Urban and Regional Planning (ISR)

Chair of Urban Design and Urban Development Hardenbergstraße 40A, Sekretariat B9, 10623 Berlin, Germany

Tel.: +49 30 314-28094

E-mail: s.klepp@tu-berlin.de

URL: https://fg-staedtebau.de/project/sarah-

klepp/

Angela MILLION, née UTTKE, is professor of urban design and urban development, and director of the "Global Center of Spatial Methods for Urban Sustainability" (GCSMUS) at Technische Universität Berlin. Furthermore, she is member of the methods lab and principal investigator in the subproject "Education: The Spatial Knowledge of Children and Young Adults (and Its Application) in Planning Contexts" (A02) of the Collaborative Research Center "Refiguration of Spaces" (CRC 1265), funded by the DFG. In her research, she focuses on (participatory) urban design and Baukultur, with a special interest in multifunctional infrastructure development, cities as educational settings, children, and youth.

Christine ZINKE is working in the Department of Educational Studies and Psychology at the University of Siegen in the fields of socialization, youth education, and life course research. She holds a bachelor's degree in social work and social pedagogy and a master's degree in education and social work. She is currently working as a researcher on the project "Campus as Guiding Principle and Practice in Local Educational Landscapes" funded by the DFG and is writing her dissertation on local educational landscapes and their stakeholders. She focuses on the links between education, space, and power relationships.

#### Contact:

Prof. Dr.-Ing. Angela Million (Uttke)

Technische Universität Berlin Faculty VI-Planning Building Environment Institute for Urban and Regional Planning (ISR)

Chair of Urban Design and Urban Development Hardenbergstraße 40A, Sekretariat B9, 10623 Berlin, Germany

Tel.: +49 30 314-28098 Fax: +49 30 314-28153

E-mail: a.million@isr.tu-berlin.de

URL: https://fg-staedtebau.de/project/prof-

million/

Contact:

Christine Zinke, M.A.

Universität Siegen Faculty II (Education-Architecture-Arts) Department Educational Studies-Psychology Adolf-Reichwein-Straße 2a, 57068 Siegen, Germany

Tel.: +49 271 740-5016

E-mail: <a href="mailto:christine.zinke@uni-siegen.de">christine.zinke@uni-siegen.de</a>

URL: <a href="https://www.bildung.uni-">https://www.bildung.uni-</a>

siegen.de/mitarbeiter/t coelen/mitarbeiter/zink

е

#### Citation

Coelen, Thomas; Klepp, Sarah; Million, Angela & Zinke, Christine (2021). Researching educational landscapes and their refigurational spacing: Perspectives from educational science and urban planning [48 paragraphs]. Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 22(3), Art. 20, http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-22.3.3805.